
SCRUTINY : LEARNING AND LAESCYP 
MEETING

4.00 pm MONDAY, 26TH NOVEMBER, 2018
COUNCIL CHAMBER

A Pre-Meeting will take place in Conference Room 1 at 3.30 pm.  
This meeting is for Committee Members only 

Please note that today’s meeting will be recorded. 
 

This recording will not be broadcast on the Authority’s internet as it will only be used for 
training purposes by the Democratic Services Department.

The Public Seating areas will be in view of the Camera and, by entering the Chamber and 
using the Public Seating Area, Members of the Public are consenting to being filmed and to 

the possible use of those images and sound recordings as outlined above.  

This Agenda has been prepared by the Democratic Services Department. Any 
member of the public requiring information should contact the department on 

(01685) 725284 or email democratic@merthyr.gov.uk.

Any reference documents referred to but not published as part of this agenda can 
be found on the Council’s website or intranet under Background Papers.

AGENDA
1. Apologies for absence 

2. Declarations of Interest (including whipping 
declarations) 
Members are reminded of their personal 
responsibility to declare any personal and 
prejudicial interest in respect of matters contained 
in this agenda in accordance with the provisions of 
the Local Government and Finance Act 1992 
relating to Council Tax, the Local Government Act 
2000, the Council’s Constitution and the Members 
Code of Conduct

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


Note:

(a) Members are reminded that they must 
identify the item number and subject matter 
that their interest relates to and signify the 
nature of the personal interest and

(b) Where Members withdraw from a Meeting 
as a consequence of the disclosure of a 
prejudicial interest they must notify the 
Chair when they leave

3. Inspection Area 3  -  Leadership and Management 3 - 18

4. Nursery Sufficiency and 30 Hrs Childcare Offer 19 - 32

5. Scrutiny Committee Work Programme 33 - 44

6. Scrutiny Referrals, Feedback and Follow up 
Actions 

7. Reflection and Evaluation of Meeting 
To receive an update from the Chair

8. Any other business deemed urgent by the Chair 

COMPOSITION: Councillors:  H R Jones (Chair)
                     C Davies (Vice-Chair)

Councillors: D Chaplin, L Davies, S Jago and S Thomas

Co-optees: C Brown, R Lazell, K Phelan, M Symonds, 
A Rees, A Roberts and R Crowley

together with appropriate officers

If you would prefer a copy of this agenda in another language please contact 
democratic@merthyr.gov.uk or telephone 01685 725284

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REPORT

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

Inspection Area 3 – Leadership and Management

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 The local authority continues to have a planned work programme for the Self-
Evaluation Report (SER) in order to build up a profile of judgements, which will be   
used to highlight any areas for improvement as well as come to an overall view on 
standards and performance.

1.2 The purpose of this report is to provide the current judgement for the SER inspection 
areas:-
 3.1 Quality and effectiveness of leaders and managers
 3.2 Self-evaluation and improvement planning
 3.3 Professional learning
 3.4 Safeguarding
 3.5 Use of resources

1.3 The judgement for Inspection Area 3 is ‘Good’ because there are ‘strong features 
with minor aspects that may require improvement’.

2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S)
2.1 This report is discussed and noted.

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1 Self-evaluation is the essential step in a cyclical process of bringing about change 
and improvement.  The steps in the process are:
 Monitoring and evaluating improvement
 Planning for improvement
 Undertaking improvement work

Date Written 5th November 2018
Report Author Joe Colsey
Service Area Learning
Committee Date 26th November 2018

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



3.2 The local authority’s Self-Evaluation Report (SER) for Local Government Education 
Services (LGES) has been reviewed and updated to ensure that the judgements and 
actions will lead to improved outcomes for all learners.  At the heart of self-evaluation 
are three questions:

 How well are we doing? 
 How do we know? 
 How can we improve things further? 

3.3 ESTYN reviewed their framework for the inspection of local authorities which was 
piloted during the last academic year.  The local authority continues to have a 
planned work programme in order to build up a profile of judgements, which will be 
used to highlight any areas for improvement as well as come to an overall view on 
standards and performance.  The information collected will feed into the local 
authority’s delivery plans for improving the quality of provision.  Reports on all the 
areas of the SER will continue to be presented to the LGES Scrutiny Committee over 
the coming months.

3.4 As of September 2018, Safeguarding forms part of Inspection Area 3.

4.0 WHERE WE WERE 

4.1 The previous LGES framework made judgements against the evidence provided – 
these judgement were :

 Excellent – Very strong, sustained performance and practice
 Good – Strong features, although minor aspects may require improvement
 Adequate and needs improvement – Strengths outweigh weaknesses, but 

important aspects require improvement
 Unsatisfactory and needs urgent improvement – Important weaknesses outweigh 

strengths

4.2 From September 2018, Estyn will no longer be making judgements.  For the purpose 
of self–evaluation, the Learning Department have continued to use the definitions 
from last year. 

4.3 In 2017-2018, the judgements for Inspection Area 3 were:
 Inspection area 3.1: Good with strong features, although minor aspects required 

improvement.
 Inspection area 3.2: Adequate and needs improvement with strengths 

outweighing weaknesses, but important aspects required improvement.
 Inspection area 3.3: Adequate and needs improvement with strengths 

outweighing weaknesses, but important aspects required improvement.
 Inspection area 3.4: Did not exist.
 Inspection area 3.5: Good with strong features, although minor aspects required 

improvement.

5.0 WHERE WE ARE NOW 

5.1 Current judgements for Inspection Area 3 are:

Page 4



 Inspection area 3.1: Good with strong features, although minor aspects require 
improvement.

 Inspection area 3.2: Adequate and needs improvement with strengths 
outweighing weaknesses, but important aspects require improvement.

 Inspection area 3.3: Adequate and needs improvement with strengths 
outweighing weaknesses, but important aspects require improvement.

 Inspection area 3.4: Good with strong features, although minor aspects require 
improvement.

 Inspection area 3.5: Good with strong features, although minor aspects require 
improvement.

6.0 WHERE WE WANT TO BE 

6.1 Our ambition is for the outcomes of all learners in Merthyr Tydfil to be consistently 
higher than the Welsh Average.  We strive to ensure the children and young people 
of Merthyr Tydfil acquire the skills necessary to become ambitious and capable 
learners who are healthy, confident individuals. 

6.2 Our aim is for all areas to be judged at least ‘Good’, with a number being ‘Excellent’. 

7.0 WHAT WE NEED TO DO NEXT 

7.1 Within the Evaluation Reports are areas for development - see Appendix 1 to 5.  
Many of these will form actions for officers within their team development plans.  The 
key areas for improvement from these reports are:-

 Continue to promote multi-agency collaboration through the Public Service Board 
in identifying and unblocking barriers to improvement and in holding statutory 
partnerships to account.

 Ensure future school organisation plans are clearly communicated with all 
stakeholders.

 Ensure performance management for all staff contributes to the forward strategic 
priorities and plans for education services.

 Revised corporate self-evaluation arrangements need to be implemented as soon 
as possible 

 Involvement of children and young people, and their families to inform self-
evaluation and improvement planning.

 Further develop opportunities for measuring impact that professional learning 
activities have on improving the quality of outcomes & provision.

 Continue to ensure that staff have the opportunity to identify professional learning 
needs via performance management.

 To ensure that all schools remain compliant and continue to understand their 
safeguarding responsibilities. 

 Undertake a formula funding review.
 Investigate opportunities to provide a permanent solution to the technical hosting 

and maintenance support requirements for the hosting of the Capita One MIS 
infrastructure including server and hardware.

Page 5



8.0 CONTRIBUTION TO WELLBEING OBJECTIVES

8.1 The contents of this report relate to the following Wellbeing Objectives:

 children and young people get the best start to life and are equipped with the 
skills they need to be successful learners and confident individuals.

SUE WALKER, CHIEF EDUCATION 
OFFICER

COUNCILLOR LISA MYTTON, 
PORTFOLIO LEAD FOR EDUCATION

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

Page 6



Appendix 1

Inspection Area 3:  LEADERSHIP AND MANAGMENT

3.1 QUALITY AND EFFECTIVENESS OF LEADERS AND MANAGERS 

CURRENT POSITION
The quality and effectiveness of managers is good because leadership in the local authority has been 
successful in making and sustaining improvements over the last four years with standards good or 
better in many areas.  The clear vision and focus on key initiatives so that services to schools contribute 
to high quality provision in schools.  Effective and efficient service delivery impacts well on standards 
and the quality of education and training for all children and young people.  Partnership working within 
and beyond the council is well established and leads to effective services e.g. in ALN 

The quality and effectiveness of managers is not excellent because the five ways of working in the 
Wellbeing and Future Generations Act are not yet embedded in the work of the education services; not 
all staff understand and discharge their roles and responsibilities and collaborate in driving forward 
strategic priorities and plans for education services. 

GOOD PRACTICE
 The Learning Strategy, the strategies for Early Years, Youth Services and Children Looked After, 

work with internal and external partners and the projects to deliver the corporate wellbeing 
objectives are all focused firmly on meeting the needs of all learners.  The priorities are shared with 
and understood by local authority officers and schools and underpinned by the five ways of 
working. 

 The vision of securing improved outcomes through a self-improving school system is clear and well-
articulated.  As a result school leaders have taken ownership of a number of initiatives and 
strategies including leading the Foundation Phase Alliance across the authority; undertaking the 
role of School Improvement Group convenors, leading Pathfinder pairings and developing 
curriculum (literacy, numeracy and leadership) Hubs across the borough. 

 The Council, supported by elected members from all parties, continues to give high priority to 
education and sets out well-defined priorities for improving education outcomes that are integrated 
through the wellbeing objectives and across the corporate plans.  The chair of scrutiny and the 
portfolio lead for education work together to ensure a strong focus on raising standards for all 
learners and in providing effective services.

 Through reports to cabinet, council and scrutiny committees, elected members continue to have a 
good overview of all services across the local authority in order to compare and challenge services 
more effectively and make well-informed decisions.  In addition, elected members hold managers 
to account for the services and outcomes that they are responsible for.

 The various directorates and services within the authority collaborate well in order to contribute to 
achieving this priority through well-established structures including SLT and future strategy 
meetings and the cross-directorate tackling poverty strategic group.

 Senior Officers and portfolio members are part of the Local Government Education Services (LGES) 
Monitoring Group where the learning department’s senior leadership team provide good quality 
assurance of their self-evaluation activities, both with regard to adhering to process and in ensuring 
the accuracy of the information produced.  This group sets high expectations for officers, schools, 
other providers and partners which are communicated through the regular forums and evident in 
key actions such as  the robust monitoring of schools on various aspects of leadership and 
management including and beyond standards and in the setting of  ambitious targets.

 The corporate process for the establishment and review of risks is well established and the half-
termly risk management meetings with the Chief Executive and senior officers from legal and 
Human Resources complement this.  This sits alongside the half-termly Schools Review Group led by Page 7



the Senior Challenge Adviser (SCA) and involving all team leaders whose work has a direct impact 
on schools.  As a result issues and risks in schools are addressed swiftly. 

 A strong partnership between the local authority (LA) and its regional consortium for school 
improvement, Central South Consortium, (CSC) helps to provide a clear model of support and 
challenge for schools, which is proportionate to their level of need.

 Improved partnership working in youth support services enables the authority to take a strategic 
approach when planning future services.  A key driver of the new partnership arrangements is the 
establishment of the youth support services steering group.  The authority works well in 
partnership with the voluntary sector through its partnership with the Voluntary Action Merthyr 
Tydfil (VAMT) and the providers’ network.  This has enabled an improved understanding of 
provision in this area and is giving lead workers better opportunities to meet the needs of young 
people.  The authority has also worked very well in partnership with young people to develop 
programmes and to refine support processes that respond to current needs and issues.

 The local authority has worked with a neighbouring authority to develop its systems and 
approaches to data management.  As a result, the authority now has a system that holds key data 
across a range of education service functions including additional learning needs, attendance, 
exclusions and school admissions.  Consequently, the sharing of data between departments within 
education has improved.  The authority is in a stronger position to monitor performance, identify 
trends and determine suitable priorities for improvement, however this is an area that requires 
further work and is a key priority for improvement across the department.

 The local authority commissions a wide range of services for pupils with additional learning needs 
(ALN) from a neighbouring authority which has led to a more rigorous and consistent approach to 
the provision of support and use of resources.

 Greenfield Special School, on behalf of the authority, continues to provide a highly effective 
outreach service for schools and is continuing to lead on the implementation of the person-centred 
planning model, along with PBS training.  This helps mainstream schools in preparing for the 
statutory reform of additional learning needs and to improve provision for pupils with ALN. 
Currently 23 out of 27 (85%) of schools have attended training on person-centred planning.

 Strong partnerships with schools, other local authorities and community groups underpin the 
development of the Welsh in Education Strategic Plan.

 The Scrutiny Committee continues to have an appropriate and well-planned programme of work 
that includes robust monitoring of action plans arising from the education service’s self-evaluation 
arrangements.  It has established an appropriate annual programme of reporting which includes 
end of key stage performance, NEET figures, inspection outcomes and categorisation of schools.  
The committee is effective in holding the local authority to account and challenges the nature of 
some support services where there are concerns, for example, the task and finish group focussing 
on attendance and service level agreements with schools.

PRIORITIES FOR IMPROVEMENT
 Continue to promote multi-agency collaboration through the Public Service Board in identifying and 

unblocking barriers to improvement and in holding statutory partnerships to account.
 Continue to develop the data management system in order to allow leaders and managers to more 

effectively target resources and identify need.

EVIDENCE
Headteacher Forum agendas
Chairs of Governors Forum agendas
School improvement overview
Scrutiny reporting schedule 2017-2018
Cabinet reporting schedule 2017-2018
Council reporting schedule 2017-2018
Risk Management Conference minutes

Page 8



Appendix 2

Inspection Area 3:  LEADERSHIP AND MANAGMENT

3.2 SELF-EVALUATION PROCESSES AND IMPROVEMENT PLANNING

CURRENT JUDGEMENT
Self-evaluation and improvement planning is adequate and needs improvement.  This is because 
although the systems and processes embedded within the Learning Department, have led to 
improvements in quality in both schools and in the local authority, the current absence of a robust 
corporate self-evaluation system is acknowledged as a significant weakness. 

The current self-evaluation processes do result in leaders, managers and elected members having an 
accurate picture and understanding of the strengths and weaknesses in this area and they routinely 
make good use of a range of rigorous monitoring activities.  Performance data is consistently used to 
monitor progress and plan for improvement.  There is a sustained focus on achieving progress against 
the authority’s priorities, previous inspection recommendation and on ensuring an effective and 
efficient service delivery.

The self-evaluation and improvement planning processes are not yet good because although specific 
systems and processes within the Learning Department continue to be developed and improved in 
response to the changing legislative and regulatory/inspection frameworks and ensure that the 
department’s self-evaluation processes are responsive to these changes, self-evaluation processes at 
the service level do not yet consistently lead to improved outcomes for all learners and services.
In addition self-evaluation and improvement planning require a consistent approach corporately which 
will help to ensure that the authority has a good understanding of strengths, weakness and priorities for 
improvement within all of its service areas and this consistency of process at the corporate level will 
help to ensure judgement, scrutiny and challenge are more robust across the whole local authority.

STRENGTHS
 Self-evaluation processes across the local authority’s education services  continue to be robust and 

this year work has been undertaken to align these processes to the new Local Government Education 
Services (LGES) framework. 

 Self-evaluation processes are transparent and based on reliable and comparative performance data. 
Information is used well to challenge performance, set ambitious targets, and to identify priorities for 
improvement that are used to inform service planning. 

 Self-evaluation reports are discussed and debated in the Education Services Leadership Team (ESLT) 
meetings which are also attended by the corporate performance officer link for education services to 
provide corporate scrutiny, challenge and support to the self-evaluation process.

 The new performance and challenge framework being developed corporately currently includes 
arrangements for reporting on key performance indicators and outcomes against the corporate 
wellbeing plan ‘Focus on the Future’ within the Annual Performance Report, as required by the 
Wellbeing and Future Generations Act, 2015.

 The Annual Performance Report, education self-evaluation reports, school and pupil performance 
reports, and a range of other service performance reports are presented throughout the year to the 
Learning & LAESCYP (L&L) Scrutiny Committee for scrutiny and challenge as part of the annual 
Scrutiny work programme.

 There is a comprehensive evaluation and monitoring of data on standards and the quality of 
education, including consideration of trends and progress over time, reported to Cabinet, Council 
and L&L Scrutiny Committee.

 Scrutiny committee continues to play a key role in supporting and challenging the self-evaluation 
process, the judgements in the SER and the priorities for improvement. Page 9



 Scrutiny members also continue to hold to account the Central South Consortium (CSC), Education 
Services, schools and delivery against the corporate plan on a regular basis, and meetings of the 
scrutiny committees continue to be accompanied by regular pre-meeting and post-meeting briefing 
sessions with a member of the corporate performance team that enhance its effectiveness.

 The range of senior officer and member scrutiny meetings that take place as part of the performance 
and challenge framework provide good opportunity for senior officers and members to effectively 
use performance indicators and management information to regularly monitor progress against 
improvement priorities, projects and performance objectives ensuring that remedial action is taken 
where appropriate. 

 Schools contribute appropriately to the education service’s self-evaluation through a valuable range 
of working groups and forums.  They also continue to contribute effectively to reviews of relevant 
service level agreements.

 Evidence based, purposeful self-evaluation has continued to be embedded in partnership working 
with schools through the processes of national categorisation, Case Conferences, and School to 
school support. 

 A representative of the Youth Forum now sit all scrutiny committees and play an active role on 
challenging local authority officers.  Views of the community expressed through the wellbeing and 
population needs assessments have informed projects and delivery plans for the wellbeing objectives 
identified within the Corporate Wellbeing Plan Focus on the Future.

 Self-evaluation processes lead to the identification of priorities for improvement and implementation 
of action plans which have resulted in improvement in service delivery, standards and outcomes. 

 The process of improvement planning has been developed further in order to formally capture all key 
priorities for improvement identified from the self-evaluation process within each service areas 
business improvement plan.  Each business improvement plan also includes the key strategic aims 
from service strategic plans that have not been picked up through the SER.

 Each business improvement plan is clearly linked to the self-evaluation area, corporate wellbeing 
plan and service area strategic plan, sets out clearly the actions for improvement, with specified and 
realistic timescales and allocated officers responsible for delivery.

 Each service areas business improvement plan is reflected at the sub-level as part of each team’s 
business improvement planning and reflected in individual staff’s annual performance objectives 
where appropriate.  This ensures a golden thread of priorities to better support delivery of plans to 
address priorities.

 Business improvement plans are developed with the support of corporate business change, quality 
assured by corporate performance officers, discussed at ESLT and agreed with the Chief Education 
Officer.

 The local authority makes good use of resources for education services and spending decisions relate 
well to strategic priorities for improvement.  Additional resources have been allocated to address 
priority areas and improvement projects that have been identified through self-evaluation, business 
planning and SLA review processes. 

 The local authority also proactively seeks and uses external grant funding, both revenue and capital, 
to address its own and schools’ priorities.

 The corporate wellbeing plan Focus on the Future has clear links to the Public Service Board’s (PSB) 
wellbeing plan and includes the Best Start wellbeing objective as the core corporate objective for 
Education Services.   This is supported by the Chief Education Officers Best Start Strategy On A Page 
(SOAP) and monitored via regular performance reporting to scrutiny committees against the key 
performance indicators and the annual wellbeing projects. 

 The Chief Education Officer also has a Raising Standards SOAP which reflects the core education 
service priorities, and each education service area has a service SOAP that aligns to both the Raising 
Standards SOAP and the Best Start SOAP.

 Performance management arrangements continue to be effective across education services.  Staff 
are subject to annual performance appraisals, 6 monthly performance reviews and 4 to 6 weekly one 

Page 10



to one supervision meetings.  This framework supports staff and management to appropriately 
assess outcomes and their own performance.

 Self-evaluation, improvement planning and performance management arrangements are aligned and 
help to ensure that a golden thread linking priorities, action plans and performance objectives is in 
place which helps to deliver improvements against targeted outcomes.

 Performance management processes linked to self-evaluation continue to improve the usefulness of 
strategic documents, work programmes, targets and the scheduling of evaluative reports.  These 
processes are effective in holding officers to account against the agreed targets. 

 Regular evaluation of progress is undertaken against the recommendations from the Estyn 
monitoring inspection report of January 2016 and actions are planned to ensure improvements made 
are sustained.  

 Recommendations from Estyn thematic reviews are responded to and inform planning as well as 
other reports from inspectorates and regulators being reviewed and evaluated to assess implications 
for planning. E.g. reports in relation to the CSC. 

 The local authority is proactive in responding to complaints about its services and complainants are 
supported well by both local authority officers though the Governor Support Services and by external 
agencies e.g. SNAP Cymru. 

 Good practice and guidance on the management of complaints is shared with governors regularly 
and training provided to schools where necessary. 

 The Schools Forum’s annual evaluation of local authority SLAs is used very well by service managers 
to improve services in response to constructive feedback from schools and where appropriate 
complaints as detailed in the evaluation returns. 

KEY PRIORITIES FOR IMPROVEMENT
 The revised corporate self-evaluation process being developed must incorporate a comprehensive 

self-evaluation of education services so that a separate education SER is no longer required. These 
revised corporate self-evaluation arrangements need to be implemented as soon as possible and in 
time for self-evaluation processes during the current academic year.

 Termly senior officer review meetings of business improvement plans are required to provide 
monitoring, challenge and support of progress against agreed milestones and targets. 

 Further involvement of headteachers in supporting the scrutiny and challenge of the local 
authority’s self-evaluation processes is required. 

 Develop a more systematic Involvement of children and young people, and their families to inform 
self-evaluation and improvement planning.

EVIDENCE 
 Business plans
 SOAPs
 Focus on the future
 School Review Group Minutes
 Business Plan Review Meetings
 LGES monitoring meeting minutes

Page 11



Appendix 3

Inspection Area 3:  LEADERSHIP AND MANAGMENT

3.3 PROFESSIONAL LEARNING 

CURRENT POSITION
The current judgment for professional learning is adequate and needs improvement.  Staff do have the 
opportunity to keep up to date with knowledge about their areas of responsibility through attendance 
at conferences, Welsh Government and local workshops, however this is not shared across the 
department consistently.

The professional learning for staff is not yet good as there is not a systematic mechanism established to 
ensure the dissemination of key messages from learning across the department and not all staff 
understand and discharge their roles and responsibilities and collaborate in driving forward strategic 
priorities and plans for education services.

STRENGTHS
 The Lead Officer and Head of School Planning and Improvement were successful in their application 

to be part of the Association of Education Directors in Wales (ADEW) Future leaders’ programme. 
This led to support and challenge from other senior officers across Wales when considering service 
challenges.

 The Lead Officer and Heads of Services within the Learning Department were part of the corporate 
Managers Academy during 2017/18.  This programme led to changes within the management of 
strategic activities across the Council, although these have yet to embed.

 The Lead Officer and Head of Community Wellbeing are members of the Strategic Partnership Board 
(SPB) – the board which leads on and challenges delivery of the CwmTaf Wellbeing plan

 Head of Inclusion is a member of the CwmTaf steering groups in respect of safeguarding and mental 
health.

 Many team leaders are members of key strategic ADEW groups in their service area and within 
Community Wellbeing are members of key WG strategy groups thus allowing services to be up-to-
date with Welsh Government (WG) strategy and expectations and allowing staff the opportunity to 
influence decision making at the highest level.

 Learning Department Away Days allow for team leaders from across the local authority that have an 
involvement with schools to evaluate how the work they do has an impact on outcomes for children 
and young people.  Officers from outside the Learning Department include – Children Looked After 
Education Officer, Head of Children’s Services and the Leisure and Culture development Officer. 
These days also allow for joint learning opportunities e.g Additional Learning Needs Education & 
Transformation Act (ALNET), Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACES) Awareness

 Key corporate learning priorities are identified for staff to attend – this year these include PREVENT 
& Domestic Violence

 Through performance management staff have the opportunity to identify personal learning needs 
and these are actioned as far as is possible

PRIORITIES FOR IMPROVEMENT
 Ensure that key messages from professional learning opportunities are shared with colleagues 

within and across departments.
 Further develop opportunities for measuring impact that professional learning activities have on 

improving the quality of outcomes & provision.

EVIDENCE
 Professional Learning Logs
 Minutes of team meetings
 Performance management summaries including 1:1Page 12



Appendix 4

Inspection Area 3:  LEADERSHIP AND MANAGMENT

3.4 SAFEGUARDING 

CURRENT POSITION
Safeguarding is good because the local authority meets safeguarding regulations and ensures that all 
school staff remain in compliance with training requirements. 

This area is not yet excellent because there is still a need to further develop opportunities for immediate 
access to training for all staff.

STRENGTHS
 Safeguarding arrangements and governance are robust and are in compliance with Welsh 

Government guidance. 
 All schools engage in the annual Safeguarding Self-evaluation process. 
 The Child Safeguarding Policy and Self-Evaluation Audit Tool have been updated in light of the 

Prevent Duty and statutory requirements around Female Genital Mutilation and Domestic Violence. 
This self-evaluation form aims enables schools to monitor and evaluate their own safeguarding 
arrangements.

 All school governing bodies have adopted the Cwm Taf exemplar Child Safeguarding Policy for 
2017/18 and are currently in the process of doing so for that of 2018/19.

 Advice and guidance is provided on the content of risk assessments which continue to be quality 
assured.

 The local authority has a Safeguarding Officer who is the Local Authority’s Designated Officer for 
Safeguarding and the Inclusion Manager is the Education Lead Officer.  

 All schools have a Designated Senior Person (DSP) with responsibility for safeguarding.  All school 
staff and pupils are made aware of whom they are. 

 The Local Safeguarding Board has recently endorsed their policy on ‘Responding to Safeguarding 
Concerns about Individuals Whose Work Brings them into Contact with Children and Adults at Risk’. 
The Inclusion service have produced guidance specifically for schools on the process to follow when 
an allegation is made against a member of staff, in order to ensure that staff feel supported during 
this process.  Additional information has been produced to enable schools to support staff in the 
aftermath. 

 The Local Authority has a clear Safer Recruitment process and routinely monitors compliance.
 The Safeguarding Forum for schools continues to regularly meet and share current safeguarding 

policies, processes and good practice. 
 The local authority disseminates up to date information, polices and protocols in respect of 

Safeguarding to colleagues in the department and to schools. 
 The local authority provides information and resources in relation to Anti-bullying and Safeguarding 

week so that schools can partake in these activities.  The aim of which is to ensure that children and 
young people can make informed choices. 

 Education has representation on the Cwm Taf Safeguarding Board and its sub groups to ensure that 
it is aware of new policies and protocols and therefore best placed to share good practice. 

 The local authority has established a Corporate Safeguarding Group to develop relationships 
between all departments to ensure safeguarding and the promotion of welfare of both children and 
adults.  This group monitors performance in relation to Safeguarding across the Council. 

 Safeguarding Training has been delivered to Governors, peripatetic staff, and colleagues working in 
Catering and Transport to ensure that all those working with children or vulnerable adults are 
aware of their safeguarding responsibilities. 

Page 13



 Safeguarding training has been delivered to local authority and school staff; to which all schools 
have engaged.  

 Safeguarding training modules produced by Welsh Government have been shared with schools and 
local authority colleagues. 

PRIORITIES FOR IMPROVEMENT
 To ensure that all schools remain compliant and continue to understand their safeguarding 

responsibilities. 
 To work with the Corporate Safeguarding board to provide online safeguarding training to all staff. 

EVIDENCE
 Schools Safeguarding Audit
 Minutes from Safeguarding meetings
 Safeguarding Policy
 Guidance on Managing Allegations of Professional Abuse
 Guidance – Responding to safeguarding concerns about individuals whose work brings them into 

conduct with children and adults at risk.

Page 14



Appendix 5

Inspection Area 3:  LEADERSHIP AND MANAGMENT

3.5 USE OF RESOURCES 

CURRENT POSITION
The use of resources is good because staffing, accommodation and financial resources, both revenue 
and capital, are managed and deployed effectively to support learning and improvement.  The authority 
makes good use of the funding it receives and spending decisions continue to relate well to strategic 
priorities for improvement and benefits for schools and their learners.  Partnership activity provides 
good value for money because it contributes to improved outcomes for learners in aspects which the 
authority and its schools alone could not provide. 

For use of resources to be excellent the authority needs to demonstrate sustained impact from the 
allocation of resources and spending decisions on supporting positive outcomes for all learners.

GOOD PRACTICE
 Additional resources, both one-off and recurring, have been allocated to Education Services budgets 

to address priority areas and improvement projects that have been identified through self-
evaluation, business planning and Service Level Agreement (SLA) review processes.

 Additional resources have been secured from the local authority’s budget for 2018/19 and beyond 
to support the outcomes of the Additional Learning Needs (ALN) review.  These resources have 
enabled enhanced specialist provisions to be set up for a two year transitional period September 
2018 to August 2020. 

 The allocation of the local authority’s (LA) capital and corporate maintenance budgets reflect 
education priorities including capital works to support the new specialist provisions, additional 
accommodation space for the special school due to increasing pupil numbers, and priority 
maintenance work including significant roof repair/replacements and lighting and insulation works. 

 The 21st Century Schools programme Bands A and B reflect significant match funded resource 
investment by the local authority on priority education improvement projects that address; 
poor/bad condition buildings no longer suitable for teaching and learning, schools with significant 
surplus places and enable the co-location of early years/nursery education on the same sites as both 
Primary and Secondary schools, including proposed 3-16 schools / sites where possible. 

 The local authority’s wider Education asset management plan resourced through WG capital grants 
and Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) monies enables the delivery of other strategic priorities and 
projects such as significantly increasing Primary school places in the WM sector, increasing the 
capacity of primary schools at risk of oversubscription, increasing the number of nursery education 
places in both maintained and non-maintained settings and further increasing the co-location of 
early years childcare settings within school premises in support of the 30 hr childcare offer.

 The identification of efficiency savings within Education services has been led for a number of years 
by a strategic approach to remodelling services based on providing statutory and essential functions 
for better economy, efficiency and effectiveness.

 All services have been reviewed since 2014 to ensure that the core resources are spent on delivering 
statutory and / or essential functions.  This is an ongoing consideration in the annual budget setting 
process.

 In order to maximise the effective and efficient use of central staff resources a number of reviews of 
the management structure has led to realignment of roles/responsibilities to maximise utility of 
existing staff, enhancing existing SLA arrangements where possible and as such there has been a 
significant reduction to the number of management positions.

Page 15



 The LAs Strategic Education Projects (SEPs) budget (£42k in 18/19) and Annex B Central South 
Consortium (CSC) budget (£8k in 18/19) are available resources to support school improvement 
strategies within schools and the LA and both budgets are allocated based on agreed emerging 
school improvement priorities.

 The local authority’s Schools Forum is used very effectively to review many aspects of schools 
funding on an annual basis. 

 The local authority evaluates the financial risk of schools and categorises them annually into Red, 
Amber, Yellow, Green in order to determine the appropriate level of monitoring, challenge and 
support required by the school in order to help support the school to provide economy, efficiency 
and effectiveness in their financial management of the school.

 The local authority provides financial management training to schools categorised as Red or Amber 
in order to facilitate wider improvements in the financial stewardship of the governing body.

 Schools that face financial deficit pressures are required to apply to the local authority for a Planned 
Licensed Deficit which enables the school to take responsibility for developing a deficit recovery plan 
and ensure they are balancing their budget on a sustainable basis over the duration of the school’s 
medium term financial plan. 

 Schools that require a reconfiguration of their workforce due to financial pressures are supported 
with a robust business plan process that enables the local authority to scrutinise and challenge the 
sustainability of the proposals, both financial and service delivery, prior to committing Council 
resources to finance the necessary Voluntary Redundancy/ Voluntary Early Redundancy VR/VER 
costs. 

 The local authority’s formula allocation funds to schools in recognition of pupil needs and the 
contexts of schools providing specific allocations for Special Educational Needs (SEN), English as an 
Additional Language (EAL) and deprivation as measured by the Welsh Index of Multiple Deprivation 
(WIMD). 

 In recognition of the inefficiency caused by surplus places, a 10% threshold is applied to surplus 
places before the funding a school receives for premises is proportionately reduced by the % surplus 
places. 

 The local authority in partnership with the Schools Forum, reviewed the Pupil Led elements of the 
Formula Funding Allocation between 2014 and 2016.  The review concluded that the pupil led 
element of the formula, which accounts for at least 70% of the funding, meets statutory 
requirements and was equitable for 95% of components, representing a fair distribution of 
resources between schools. 

 The Education Improvement Grant (EIG) is allocated via the Central South Consortium through a 
regional model which ensures a high level of EIG funds are delegated to schools.

 All schools use school spending plans for WG grants which are signed off by Challenge Advisers 
(CAs).  Schools are supported to reconcile these plans to their annual budget and to share this detail 
in their finance committees so that use of the grant can be effectively monitored and challenged by 
governors.

 The local authority has worked in partnership with schools and clusters of schools to proactively 
seek and use external grant funding to address its own and schools’ priorities. 

 Capital grant funding has been secured to deliver strategic priorities related to the Welsh in 
Education Strategic Plan (WESP) through the Welsh Medium Capital Grant and the outcome of the 
Early Years Capital bid is awaited in support of the roll out of the 30 hrs childcare offer.

 The local authority has secured full approval from WG for the £6.8 million new build Ysgol Y Graig 
project as part of the 21st Century Schools Band A programme and is awaiting the outcome of a bid 
to co-locate a pre-school within the school as part of the Early Years Capital bid. 

 The local authority entered into a collaborative arrangement with a neighbouring authority for 
Regional Collaborative Monies (RCF) monies in support of the Capita One Management Information 
System (MIS) that was rolled out between 2013 and 2016.  This partnership is currently being 
reviewed.

Page 16



 To date, the use of Capita One has been successful in allowing the local authority to access better 
quality, timely performance data for schools that has enabled targeted monitoring, challenge, 
support and intervention to bring about improvements in school and pupil outcomes. 

 A recent review of Capita One use in Merthyr acknowledged the good work and progress that the 
local authority has made with Capita One but made a series of recommendations to improve the use 
of the system.

 The local authority also has a number of partnership arrangements in place with RCT and Cwm Taf 
Health for the delivery of ALN services.  These arrangements such as; Education Psychology Joint 
Service, Visual Impairment SLA, Speech and Language Therapy SLA, Special School Nurse SLA enable 
the delivery of essential and statutory services to pupils that would be non-viable otherwise. 

 In order to avoid possible duplication of delivery and maximise effective service provision the local 
authority has jointly contracted for the School Counselling Service along with the Families First 
Counselling Service from April 2018. 

 The local authority works in partnership with Greenfield Special School on a transitional basis to 
deliver an outreach service to mainstream schools in order to support pupils with behavioural needs 
and improve the capacity within schools to meet those needs. 

 The local authority is working in partnership with other LAs across the region to develop readiness 
for the Additional Learning Needs Education and Transformation Act (ALNET).  This is focused on 
ensuring school and LA readiness and providing transitioning support for the bill implementation 
and roll out.

 The local authority undertakes its own value for money (VfM) analysis comparing its costs and 
outcomes for pupils and youth services with those of other authorities and can demonstrate 
whether children and young people achieve good outcomes in relation to costs of the services that it 
provides.

 The LA evaluates the impact of the CSC’s school improvement work through termly performance 
meetings.  This allows the authority to direct the service to specific areas for improvement more 
efficiently, and to hold CSC to account for the quality of its work more effectively.

 Resources are used effectively and efficiently, through the categorisation process, to provide 
support for schools in inverse proportion to success. 

 The CSC reviews its own performance and VfM provided to each LA through the publication of its 
annual Value for Money Report.  

 Provision of support services to schools via SLAs are evaluated annually by schools at the request of 
the Schools Forum.  The annual evaluation considers impact, quality, cost-effectiveness and value 
for money and requires schools to judge services Excellent, Good, Adequate or Unsatisfactory. 

 In the annual evaluation of SLAs during the Autumn Term 2018 all SLAs were rated as at least ‘Good’ 
for the first time since SLAs have been reviewed and evaluated following the 2012 inspection.

 SLAs were also assessed for the current 2018-21 cycle by the Schools Forum and those causing most 
concern to schools were reviewed by a task and finish group of Headteachers and service managers 
resulting in the resolution of emerging issues and further improvements being made to the 
respective SLAs.

PRIORITIES FOR IMPROVEMENT
 Undertake a formula funding review during 2019 in order to ensure the formula is fair and equitable, 

efficient, understandable, transparent and as simple as possible. 
 Consider the needs of an effective Capita One Service delivery and options for a new delivery 

mechanism alongside the need for growth.

EVIDENCE
 School Forum Minutes
 SLA agreements and SLA evaluation
 Grant bids – cluster, 21st Century Schools, Early years Capital Bid, Welsh language bids
 Capita One Review

Page 17



This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REPORT

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

Nursery Sufficiency & 30 Hrs Childcare Offer

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 This purpose of this report is to provide an update on the progress made by the 
Local Authority (LA) in its provision of nursery education since 2014-15 and to advise 
that the LA is currently reviewing nursery education provision in line with the 
statutory duty to secure a sufficient provision of nursery education for its area.

1.2 Following the conclusion of the Sufficiency Review a report will be taken to Council 
recommending a way forward for nursery education across the County Borough and 
advising of the likely impact on the 30-hour childcare offer.

1.3 The report is presented to highlight that the LA is seeking alignment between the 
nursery education offer and the childcare offer so that parents will be clear what their 
options are regarding both and are able to plan and choose the options that best suit 
their individual needs. 

2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S)

2.1 The content of this report is discussed and noted.

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1 Under section 118 of the School Standards and Framework Act 1998 the LA is under 
a duty to secure sufficient provision of nursery education for their area for children 
who have reached a certain age.

Date Written 14th November 2018
Report Author Anthony Lewis

Chris Hole
Service Area Learning Department
Committee Date 26th November 2018

Page 19

Agenda Item 4



3.2 The Nursery Education and Early Years Development & Childcare Partnership 
(Wales) Regulations 2005 specify that age as being from the term following the 
child’s third birthday.

3.3 This legislative and regulatory eligibility criteria for nursery education gives rise to 
three different entry points for eligible three year olds each year; January, April and 
September.  Children then remain in nursery education until they enter Reception 
class in primary school at the start of the academic year in which children turn five.

3.4 Therefore, depending on when a child turns three during the academic year, they will 
be eligible to access between three and five terms of nursery education before 
entering Reception. 

3.5 This is illustrated by the following table which considers children turning three during 
the academic year 2017-18, when they are eligible to enter nursery education and 
the maximum number of school terms they are able to access prior to entering 
Reception class in primary school.   

When does child 
turn three during 
2017-18 academic 

year?

Earliest 
Entry to 
Nursery 

Education

Number of 
terms as a 

Rising 3 pupil 
during 2017/18 
academic year

(Pre-Nursery)
(FPN1)

Number of 
terms as a 

Rising 4 pupil 
during 2018/19 
academic year

(Nursery)
(FPN2)

Maximum number 
of terms of Nursery 

Education

1st Sep 2017
to

31st Dec 2017

January 
2018

2 3 5 Total

2 pre-Nursery
3 Nursery

1st Jan 2018
to

31st Mar 2018

April 2018 1 3 4 Total

1 pre-Nursery
3 Nursery

1st Apr 2018
to

31st Aug 2018

September 
2018

0 3 3 Total

0 pre-Nursery
3 Nursery

3.6 Welsh Government (WG) refer to the pre-nursery cohort of rising three’s as FPN1 
(Foundation Phase Nursery 1) and the nursery cohort of rising four’s as FPN2 
(Foundation Phase Nursery 2).  For ease of reference and a consistent use of terms 
this report will adopt the same usage of FPN1 and FPN2.  

3.7 The above table shows that all children are eligible for at least 3 terms FPN2 from 
the September of the academic year in which they turn four.  However, those 
children whose third birthday falls between 1st September and 31st March are also 
eligible to access either one or two terms FPN1 in either the January or April whilst 
they are still rising three.  

3.8 Therefore, children starting nursery education in September may be joining a class 
of peers who will already have had access to either one or two terms nursery 
education.  This apparent inequity in the nursery education system is a consequence 
of the legislative and regulatory framework and is present across the whole of Wales. 

Page 20



The LA’s duty therefore remains to secure sufficient provision of nursery education, 
both for rising three’s and rising four’s, from the term following a child’s third birthday 
until they enter Reception.

3.9 Within the County Borough nursery education is provided in all 19 Community 
Primary Schools, 3 Voluntary Aided Primary Schools and in the 3 non-maintained 
Registered Education Providers (REPs) based in the Integrated Children’s Centre 
(Little Rascals Preschool, Funtazia Day Nursery and Cylch Meithrin Pentrebach).

3.10 The LA has not yet formally determined a sufficient provision of nursery education for 
its area but in line with the published School Admission’s Policy the LA allocates 
FPN1 and FPN2 places depending upon the available capacity in each school. 

3.11 However, the decision regarding whether to allocate a full-time or part-time place is 
currently at the discretion of each school, and is usually determined by demand for 
places and overall capacity across the academic year, as well as funding 
implications.  The school’s decision to allocate part-time or full-time places for any 
particular intake is applied to all the pupils in that intake.

3.12 Despite the discretion currently employed by schools in this area, the vast majority of 
schools do operate a consistent pattern year on year.  Some provide part-time only 
for all pupils, others provide a gradual increase in provision from part-time FPN1 to 
full-time FPN2, whilst others offer full-time to each child in September and January 
but then are either full in April or offer part-time to those pupils only, these pupils 
would then become full-time the following September.

3.13 This current mixed economy of provision and the discretion of schools leads to 
uncertainty for parents and a perceived sense of inequity within the system as some 
are delayed access to FPN1 due to space restrictions and are waiting one or 
sometimes two terms to access FPN2, whilst others have full-time access in both 
FPN1 and FPN2.

3.14 Additional factors such as the short supply of places in Welsh Medium (WM) nursery 
education and similarly in very popular English Medium (EM) schools also result in 
some children experiencing delays, sometimes in January but usually in April.

3.15 Despite the LA not currently determining what sufficient nursery education is for its 
area, in 2017/18 academic year 91% of all pupils applying for a place the term after 
their third birthday were successfully allocated and took up their place.  The 
remaining 9% or 97 pupils were delayed entry to nursery education in January or 
April 2018 until September 2018.  

3.16 Within schools across the County Borough, a child accessing a part-time nursery 
place receives on average12.5 hours of education per week, whilst a child accessing 
a full-time nursery place receives on average 25 hours of education per week.  
Within non-maintained settings the nursery education offer is 12.5 hours per week, 
although parents have the flexibility to take up as much, or as little of the offer as 
they choose. 

3.17 WG guidance in this area is that nursery education of at least 10 hours should be 
provided to all pupils, whose parent requests a place, the term after their third 

Page 21



birthday.  Although this is guidance and not a statutory requirement, WG policy in 
this area is based on this and the legislative framework identified in 3.1 and 3.2. 

3.18 The summary of the childcare offer as described by WG is 30 hours a week of free 
early education and childcare for eligible working parents of three and four year olds, 
for up to 48 weeks of the year.  The 30 hours will consist of a combination of the 
existing Foundation Phase Nursery (FPN) provision open to all three and four year 
olds and the additional funded childcare for eligible families.  The offer is a maximum 
of 30 hours of combined education and childcare.  The number of hours of childcare 
funded is calculated by using the current FPN provision within your LA as a basis, so 
that no combined total exceeds 30 hours. 

3.19 Therefore, if eligible for the childcare offer, a child receiving 12.5 hours of part-time 
nursery education per week would be able to top this up with 17.5 hours per week 
childcare.  Whilst a child receiving 25 hours of full-time nursery education per week 
would be able to top this up with 5 hours per week. 

3.20 In view of the requirement on the LA to secure sufficient provision of nursery 
education, and the implementation of the childcare offer in January 2019, the LA 
decided to formally review and assess the sufficiency of nursery education provision 
across the County Borough. 

4.0 WHERE WE WERE 

4.1 In the 2014-15 academic year more than 200 three year olds eligible for a nursery 
education place were unable to access a place in the term following their third 
birthday.  These delays occurred in January and April 2015 and entry into nursery 
education was delayed by either one or two terms, until September 2015.

4.2 Therefore, of the 620 pupils accessing a nursery place in September 2015, more 
than a third had delayed entry to nursery education.  At that time the LA did not 
exercise any element of control over the nursery admissions process and parents 
applied directly to schools.

4.3 Most schools only operated one admission into nursery education each September 
and those schools that did admit pupils in January only did so up to the 1979 figure 
which limited the number of three year olds that the LA would fund based on the 
census of three year olds from 1979.  Very few schools operated any intake in April.

4.4 The use of non-maintained REPs during academic years 2012/13 to 2014/15 
indicates how some parents chose to access FPN1 in alternative settings whilst 
waiting for a FPN2 place in a school the following September.

Academic Year No: Places
Sep

No: Places
Jan

No: Places
Apr

2012-13 10 24 47

2013-14 3 33 57

2014-15 4 31 49

Page 22



4.5 A significant number of children from Flying Start settings experienced these delays 
of one or two terms before accessing FPN2 in September, often missing out on 
FPN1 altogether.  This was considered to have a significant detriment to the benefits 
children had already accrued from attending Flying Start pre-school and would 
disadvantage those children in comparison to others in Flying Start who were able to 
transition and those not in Flying Start areas that were able to enter nursery 
education in the term after their third birthday. 

4.6 In March 2015, as part of an efficiency drive to deliver services at the statutory level, 
the LA decided to implement part-time only nursery education for all rising three’s 
and rising four’s.  The main benefits to this change were expected to be; 
o consistent offer of nursery education to all three and four year olds; 
o removing delays to FPN1 access in January and April so that all pupils can enter 

at the earliest opportunity; and 
o securing immediate transition for Flying Start pupils to maximise the benefit of 

pre-school and nursery education for those from the most disadvantaged 
communities in the County Borough.

4.7 This change, which was to be implemented from September 2015, was challenged 
legally in March/April 2015.

4.8 Following receipt of legal counsel’s advice that Council;
o had proceeded on the basis that it was incorrectly advised part-time nursery 

education is the statutory requirement for all eligible three and four year olds, 
and 

o had not in fact made a formal determination regarding what provision of nursery 
education is sufficient for the County Borough, 

the Council reversed its decision to implement part-time only nursery education.

4.9 Legal counsel further advised that since the LA’s statutory duty is to secure sufficient 
provision of nursery education rather than simply provide part-time places, the 
authority must first determine what sufficient provision is for its own area.

4.10 Prior to making this determination and potentially changing the current provision of 
nursery education across the County Borough, legal counsel advised that the LA 
must understand the potential impact of any nursery education proposals on the 
following;
a. It’s duty to secure that the provision of nursery education is sufficient for its area 

(see Section 118(1) of the School Standards and Framework Act 1998)
b. It’s duties in relation to Childcare Sufficiency (see Section 22(1) of the Childcare 

Act 2006) 
c. It’s duties in relation to Child Poverty (see the Children and Families (Wales) 

Measure 2010)
d. It’s duties in relation to Children in Need (see Sections 17 and 18 of the Children 

Act 1989)
e. Other (relevant) statutory duties

Page 23



Further, the consideration of whether a proposal would meet the Council’s statutory 
duty in relation to sufficient nursery education must take into account not only the 
number/proportion of children who receive nursery education and the duration of the 
nursery education that they receive, but also the particular circumstances and needs 
of children and families in the LA area.

4.11 In the LA’s school admissions policy, published on 1st October 2015, all 
parents/families seeking access to a nursery education place were advised that the 
provision of nursery education was subject to review and may change in due course 
and this has remained in subsequent admission documents.

5.0 WHERE WE ARE NOW 

5.1 Since academic year 2015/16 the LA has used its powers as the Admissions 
Authority to allocate nursery education places in schools to eligible pupils in the term 
following their third birthday.  Consequently, all schools now have a January and 
April intake subject to space, as determined by the LA. 

5.2 Consistent with the current School Admissions Policy and local custom and practice, 
schools continue to decide whether the places allocated are part-time or full-time 
subject to capacity, demand and funding implications.  However, the intake patterns 
in schools are now more consistent and fall into three categories;
o 63% of schools operate a full-time FPN2 offer in September, with a part-time 

FPN1 offer in both January/April subject to space 
o 16% offer full-time FPN2, with full-time FPN1 in January, and part-time FPN1 in 

April.  
o 21% offer part-time FPN2 in September, with part-time FPN1 in both 

January/April

Each of the offers for FPN1 places in January/April are subject to space with 
capacity issues usually arising each April and occasionally in January.  Two of the 
most popular schools offer only part-time places in FPN1 and FPN2 but are still full 
to capacity following the January intake and are unable to accept pupils each April. 

An alternative way to analyse the FPN2 / FPN1 offers from schools is shown below;
o      79% of schools offer full-time FPN2 in September, 21%  part-time
o      79% of schools offer part-time FPN1 in January, 21% full-time
o      100% of schools offer part-time FPN1 in April

5.3 The tables below show the nursery education intake during each of the entry points 
during academic year 2017-18 for English Medium and Welsh Medium Primary 
Schools.

Page 24



5.3.o1 English Medium school intake of applicants during academic year 2017/18.
 

Sep 2017
FPN2

Jan 2018
FPN1

April 2018
FPN1

AY 2017-18

Places Allocated 524 183 84 791

Applications 
Unallocated

0 23 50 73

% Allocated
% Unallocated

100%
0%

89%
11%

63%
37%

92%
8%

Full-Time Places 427 39 0

Part-Time Places 97 144 84

% Full-Time
% Part-Time

81%
19%

21% /
79%

0%
100%

During 2017/18, 92% of applicants for nursery education in EM schools accessed a 
place the term after their third birthday.  Two schools were unable to have an intake 
in January 2018 and a further three were unable to have an intake in April 2018, 
resulting in 73 pupils not being allocated a nursery education place.

5.3.o2 Welsh Medium school intake of applicants during academic year 2017/18.

Sep 2017 Jan 2018 April 2018 AY 2017-18
Places Allocated 105 40 0 145

Applications 
Unallocated 

0 0 24 24

% Allocated 
% Unallocated

100%
0%

100%
0%

0%
100%

86%
14%

Full-Time Places 42 0 N/a

Part-Time Places 63 40 N/a

% Full-Time
% Part-Time

40%
60%

0%
100%

N/a

During 2017/18 86% of applicants for nursery education in WM schools accessed a 
place the term after their third birthday with the access issues all occurring in April 
2018 when neither of the two WM schools were able to have an intake as they were 
already full.  This meant that none of the 24 children who applied were able to be 
allocated a nursery education place in a WM school until September 2018.  This 
compares to 63% of applicants to EM schools that were able to access a place in 
April 2018. 

5.4 Overall in the academic year 2017/18, 97 children applying for a nursery education 
place within a LA school were not allocated a place the term after their third birthday. 
This is 9% of the total number of children who applied for a nursery education place 
in school, compared to over 33% who did not access a place in 2014/15, which 
represents a significant improvement over the three years since the LA reasserted its 
role as the admission authority for all admissions to nursery education in community 
schools.  

Page 25



5.5 Further to this, the three Registered Education Placements (REPs) had an intake of 
26 pupils in January and April 2018.  Some of these 26 pupils may have been 
amongst the 97 pupils who did not access a place in school and so decided to take 
up a place in a REP whilst waiting for their 1st preference school to have availability 
in the September.  Therefore, the % not accessing a nursery education place the 
term after their third birthday is likely to be less than 9%.  However parental choice to 
use these facilities also means that these could be children who never applied for a 
place in schools and entered non maintained directly. 

5.6 In addition to allocating nursery education places to pupils instead of schools, the 
LA’s School Admissions Officers have worked closely with Headteachers to 
encourage schools to accept part-time admissions for FPN1 every January in order 
to maximise the availability of space for children eligible for FPN1 in April. 

5.7 Removal of the 1979 figure from the Admissions Policy 2016-17 has also been 
helpful in securing additional January places for FPN1 as there is no longer a cap on 
the number of three year olds schools are funded for.  The current formula funding 
arrangements do not include an April count date and so further alignment is required 
between the nursery entry points and the delegated funding provided to schools.

5.8 Further, the LA has re-measured the capacity of all schools in the County Borough 
during 2016 and 2017, including nursery areas/classes.  This has resulted in 
additional capacity being identified in schools through reconfiguration of classrooms / 
use of rooms including for nursery education.  

5.9 The use of non-maintained REPs during academic years 2015/16 to 2017/18 
indicates the impact of these changes  on accessing FPN1 in non-maintained 
settings which reflects the additional number that are being accommodated in 
schools.  However, the pattern of increasing intake during the year reflects the 
number of eligible three year olds increasing over the course of the academic year 
and will be a combination of parents who prefer a REP to a school place potentially 
due to wrap around, and those who have been unable to access a place in school 
until September. 

Academic Year No: Places
Sep

No: Places
Jan

No: Places
Apr

2015-16 2 17 33

2016-17 1 4 23

2017-18 5 11 31

5.10 The significant reductions in number of children who are experiencing delays to 
entering nursery education in January and April will likely also have a significant 
benefit to those transitioning from Flying Start settings.  Analysis shows that of the 
97 children who were not allocated a nursery education place the term following their 
third birthday approximately 26 of these had attended a Flying Start setting.  The 
vast majority of Flying Start children are now accessing a nursery education place 
the term after their third birthday. 

Page 26



5.11 The LA has commissioned Pleydellsmithyman Ltd to undertake an assessment of 
nursery sufficiency for the LA area.  This includes a consideration of the following 
three scenarios and an assessment of the impact of each of these in respect of the 
LA’s duties listed under 4.10 a-e;
o Scenario A – status quo
o Scenario B – part-time only for rising three’s (FPN1) and rising four’s (FPN2) 
o Scenario C – part-time only for rising three’s (FPN1) and full-time for rising four’s 

(FPN2)

5.12 In support of this work parental engagement has taken place in the form of two 
questionnaires, one for the 2018/19 nursery education cohort of parents and one for 
those parents whose children will access nursery education during 2019 i.e. the 
prospective 2019/20 nursery education cohort.  A focus group from a sample of 
parents who completed the questionnaire was also held to provide opportunity to 
discuss parents’ views in more detail.

5.13 Both questionnaires received very good response rates circa 30% with 231 families 
responding to the nursery education questionnaire and 220 families responding to 
the pre-school questionnaire.  These response rates are helpful in enabling 
meaningful extrapolation of questionnaire results to the whole population of eligible 
three and four year olds.

5.14 The sufficiency assessment review, which included desktop data analysis and 
secondary research, in addition to the parental engagement, is currently being 
written up into a report, but some of the key preliminary findings from the parental 
engagement have been shown below.

Some key findings from the parental questionnaires:

o Between 95% and 99% of eligible children are in nursery education
o 94% of parents want their children to start nursery the term following their third 

birthday, the 6% who don’t either think their child is not ready for nursery 
education or that they are not ready to send them.

o 96% of parents want a full-time offer, whether nursery education or a 
combination of nursery education/childcare.  4% do not want a full-time offer for 
their children.

o 80% of parents want a full-time nursery education place as a first preference, 8% 
want part-time nursery and part-time childcare, 8% have no preference how the 
full-time offer is made up as long as it is full-time. 

o The top five reasons why parents choose a nursery education setting are;
 ‘I want my child to attend Reception in the same school’ 
 ‘The location/convenience of the school/setting’  
 ‘It is my local catchment school’
 ‘My child has friends/siblings who attend’
 ‘The quality of the school/setting’

These reasons were given by between 52%- 56% of respondents.  The next most 
popular reason was ‘Full-time nursery education is available’ with 44% of responses.

Page 27



Childcare – FPN2 

o Just under a third of families currently accessing FPN2 are using childcare in 
addition to nursery education, and 76% of these rely on family and friends.

o Half of the families currently using childcare to top up the education offer think 
they will be eligible for the childcare offer. A further 15% of these families weren’t 
sure if they would be eligible.

o Reliance on childcare is significantly different between those accessing full-time 
and part-time nursery education. 26% of families with access to full-time nursery 
education also use childcare with 79% of these relying on families and friends 
and 46% using formal childcare.

o For families currently using part-time nursery education the number also using 
childcare increases to 46% with 72% relying on family and friends and 74% 
using formal childcare. 

Childcare – FPN1

o 82% of families due to access FPN1 in 2019, the majority of which will access a 
part-time place, expect to use some form of childcare, with 62% relying on family 
and friends and 60% requiring formal childcare, often in combination with family 
and friends.

o 61% of families due to access FPN1 in 2019 think they will be eligible for the 
childcare offer and if offered a part-time place 87% of these are planning to use 
the offer during term time and 49% in school holidays. 

o Take up of the offer reduces to 43% of eligible families during term time if full-
time nursery education is secured. 

Full-time v Part-Time Nursery Education

o Between 44% and 62% of parents would require less support from families and 
friends if able to access a full-time place instead of part-time

o Between 40% and 44% of parents would save on reduced childcare costs
o Between 23% and 49% of parents would be able to increase the hours that they 

work
o Between 25% and 37% of parents believe the additional benefit of a full-time 

place would allow/is allowing them to work, otherwise they would not be able to 
work.

o A third of parents said they would look after their child themselves if they were 
accessing a part-time education place instead of full-time, whilst of those 
requiring childcare 68% would rely more on family and friends.

o Overall it is estimated that if families accessed a full-time provision instead of 
part-time there would be additional demand for up to 178 formal childcare 
places, and there would also be additional demand for hours from families 
currently using formal childcare. The total estimated additional hours required by 
all families would be 8,505 hours per week.

    
Expected demand for childcare offer during 2019

5.15 Historically the take up of childcare in Merthyr Tydfil for the 0-4 age group has been 
low in comparison to the rest of Wales and currently stands at 34% (3% increase 
since 2014) according to the 2017 Childcare Sufficiency Assessment (CSA).  The 

Page 28



2017 CSA also shows that during school holiday periods the use of childcare 
reduces to 9%.

5.16 All childcare providers across Wales were required to complete a Self-Assessment 
Statement of Service (SASS) return in 2017 to Care Inspectorate for Wales.  This 
demonstrated  that the total childcare places available during the school day, on the 
week of the return, and the vacancies available within Merthyr Tydfil were as follows; 

o 808 places available for children 0-4 years during the school day.
o 250 half day sessions were vacant during the week of the return.  

5.17 The CSA parental survey suggested that there would be a 56% take up of the 
Childcare Offer which would equate to 200-230 children based upon the 400 three-
four year olds potentially eligible for the offer.  These individuals would require part 
time or half day provision to complement their school place.  

5.18 The 2017 CSA also identified the main pressure points for meeting demand as;
o Limited vacancies within existing Cylch Meithrin provision.
o Decline in the availability of places during school holidays – although the offer  

may raise demands 
o Majority of pre-schools and Cylch Meithrin operate in the morning which is when 

children  are most likely to access their Foundation Phase Nursery (FPN) 
provision 

5.19 Since the 2017 CSA a further two Cylch Meithrin (Soar & Aberfan) have been 
developed providing an additional  30 Welsh medium places with Soar having 
secured its registration  within the last month.

5.20 In addition to this the Learning Department research above, which has focused on 
the families with children who entered school in September 2018 or who will be 
enrolled during the 2019 academic year.  This identified that of those families 
potentially eligible (self-reported 509), 53% (270) would wish to access the childcare 
offer during term time and 55% (281) would wish to access the offer during holiday 
periods.  The demand for places is heavily influenced by the offer in schools for 
children aged three and four. 

5.21 Applications for the childcare offer will go live in early December and providers are 
currently being signed up to facilitate the go live date in January 2019, as previously 
agreed by Council.

6.0 WHERE WE WANT TO BE 

6.1 The LA wants to determine and also to secure sufficient provision of nursery 
education for its area and to reflect this in the School Admissions Policy at the 
earliest opportunity.

6.2 The LA wants every child to access a nursery education place the term after their 
third birthday. 

Page 29



6.3 The LA wants the Schools Admission Policy to ensure that for nursery admissions:

o The LA, as the Admissions Authority, decides on whether places are part-time or 
full-time 

o An equitable offer of either part-time or full-time for all FPN1 pupils 
o An equitable offer of either part-time or full-time for all FPN2 pupils
o A consistent number of nursery education hours for all part-time places
o A consistent number of nursery education hours for all full-time places 
o An equitable offer for all children choosing EM or WM places
o A flexible nursery education offer so that parents can make best use of a 

combination of nursey education and childcare where required

6.4 The LA wants alignment between the three entry points to nursery education, the 
schools formula allocation, and the School Admissions Policy.   This will ensure that 
all pupils are funded from their entry to nursery education and that any schools 
deviating from the LA’s Admissions Policy would only receive funding in line with the 
policy.

6.5 The LA wants to work with Voluntary Aided (VA) schools, who act as their own 
Admissions Authority, to ensure that wherever possible a consistent nursery 
education offer is applied in VA schools and in the LA’s community schools.

6.6 The LA wants to provide additional WM nursery education places in order to meet 
the current shortage of FPN1 places for rising three’s.  

6.7 The LA wants alignment between the nursery education offer and the childcare offer 
so that parents are clear what their options are regarding both and are able to plan 
and choose their options accordingly that best suit their individual needs. 

7.0 WHAT WE NEED TO DO NEXT 

7.1 The Nursery Sufficiency Review is currently being completed and will inform a follow 
up report to Council.  The aim of this report is to recommend a proposal to secure 
the sufficient provision of nursery education for the County Borough. 

7.2 The Council report will include a more comprehensive consideration of the likely 
impact proposals that nursery education will have on the take up of the childcare 
offer and demand for places.

7.3 Subject to the recommendations within the report, revisions will be proposed to the 
School Admissions Policy and consulted upon prior to determining new admission 
arrangements for the LA.

7.4 Subject to the recommendations within the report, an alignment between the funding 
arrangements for nursery education and the school admissions arrangements for 
nursery education will require further discussion and consultation with the Schools 
Forum and schools.    

Page 30



8.0 CONTRIBUTION TO WELLBEING OBJECTIVES

8.1 Identify the Wellbeing Objectives and respective plans and strategies to which the 
contents of the report relate.  Explain how the issues in the report contribute to the 
Wellbeing Objectives. 
o Providing alignment between the nursery education offer and the 30 hr childcare 

offer, parents will be able to make plans regarding work, education/training and 
other opportunities or commitments and choose the nursery/childcare options 
that best suit the needs of their children, their families and themselves.  This will 
have clear positive impacts upon Best Start to Life, Working Life and Living Well.  

o No negative impacts have been identified against the Well-being Objectives.

SUE WALKER
CHIEF OFFICER (LEARNING)

COUNCILLOR LISA MYTTON, 
PORTFOLIO LEAD FOR EDUCATION

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

Page 31



This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

SCRUTINY REPORT

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

Scrutiny Committee Work Programme 

1.0 PURPOSE OF THE REPORT

1.1 To provide the Scrutiny Committee with its work programme for consideration and to 
prepare in advance of the next scrutiny committee meeting.

1.2 To remind scrutiny committee members that they need to consider the requirements 
of the Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 in all aspects of scrutiny 
work.

2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S)

2.1 The Committee considers the attached work programme and approves, revises or 
amends it as deemed appropriate.

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND
3.1 The attached work programme identifies the topics and issues under consideration 

by the Scrutiny Committee and allows an opportunity for additional subjects to be 
identified and included on the programme.

3.2 Scrutiny committees are required to prepare and keep under review a programme for 
their future work. By reviewing and prioritising issues, members are able to ensure 
that the work programme delivers a member-led agenda. 

3.3 The Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 requires each Public Service 
Board (PSB) and Council to work with their communities to develop local objectives. 
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council (MTCBC) and the Cwm Taf PSB have acted 
on this.

Date Written 16th November 2018
Report Author Scrutiny Section
Committee Division Scrutiny 
Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt
Committee Date 26th November 2018

Page 33

Agenda Item 5



3.4 MTCBC has four local Wellbeing Objectives, each having clear outcomes that will 
help the Council to respond to local community needs and contribute to the seven 
national wellbeing goals. The four Wellbeing Objectives are:-

BS Best Start to Life - Children and young people get the best start to life and are 
equipped with the skills they need to be successful learners and confident 
individuals. The key outcomes (or components) for Best Start to Life are:

 Children live in a nurturing and stimulating home environment 
 Children have access to high quality pre-school and school education 
 Improve the educational outcomes for all children and young people 
 Children and young people have good health and wellbeing

WL Working Life - People feel supported to develop the skills required to meet the 
needs of businesses, with a developing, safe infrastructure that establishes Merthyr 
Tydfil as an attractive destination. The key outcomes (or components) to support the 
response to this objective include: 

 Making skills work for Merthyr Tydfil: developing the workforce of the future; 
 Developing the environment and infrastructure for business to flourish; 
 Communities protect, enhance and promote our heritage and cultural assets; 
 Developing safer communities; and 
 Supporting and accommodating those most disadvantaged in the housing market.

EW Environmental Wellbeing - Communities protect, enhance and promote our 
environment and countryside. The key outcomes (or components) for communities to 
protect, enhance and promote our environment and countryside include: 

 Minimise environmental damage through prevention of pollution; 
 Maximise efficient use of materials and resources by means of the waste 

hierarchy; 
 Developing good quality, biodiverse and connected green infrastructure and open 

spaces; and 
 Promoting and supporting the use of renewable and low carbon energy.

LW Living Well - People are empowered to live independently within their 
communities, where they are safe and enjoy good physical and mental health. To 
ensure a holistic approach is met in this objective, the key outcomes (or 
components) for Living Well will include: 

 Safeguarding children and adults who are at risk of harm; 
 Tackling adverse childhood experiences and developing community Resilience; 
 Promoting healthy behaviours and increased levels of physical activity; 
 Promote good emotional wellbeing and improved mental health; 
 Clear and accessible information and advice; and 
 Services that provide people with the ability to live in their own home

Page 34



3.5 The Scrutiny Committee is encouraged to identify issues that reflect these priorities 
that are within your remit and/or are a priority for local people and communities. If a 
matter is a recurring issue for the people you, as Councillors, represent, the 
likelihood is that it is something that the Committee should consider. The more 
relevant the issue is to local communities then the greater the likelihood of engaging 
those communities in the scrutiny process and of producing outcomes that will be 
visible to those communities you represent.

3.6 MTCBC has developed an ‘Our Shared Vision’ document (Appendix I). This makes 
the connections from the seven national Wellbeing Goals through to the local 
objectives and political priorities. This document is contained within one page and 
acts as an easy to understand guide. When considered with service area strategies 
and operational plans a thread is created that can be extended down to individual 
tasks. This helps staff members see how they are contributing to the Act and the 
‘Wales We Want’, and will assist Scrutiny members better understand the 
connections with the Act.

3.7 The work programme is a dynamic document and is reviewed at every meeting of 
the Committee to ensure that its contents are still relevant and will add value to what 
the Council and partners are doing. At each meeting the committee will agree the 
agenda items for their next meeting and in preparation may in advance wish to ask 
itself the following questions.

Q) Why has the item been placed on a scrutiny work programme?
a. Does this item/topic contribute to the delivery of the Council’s Wellbeing 

Objectives and priorities?
b. Is this item/topic relating to service performance concerns?
c. Is this item/topic of significant public interest?
d. Has the item/topic got budgetary implications?
e. Is this a item/topic where Scrutiny involvement will make a significant 

difference and achieve tangible outcomes?
f. Can effective Scrutiny of this issue be delivered from within available 

resources?

Q) What is the specific role of the committee?
           This will depend on the item – for example the role could be:

a. to determine if performance levels are acceptable in relation to a particular 
department

b. to determine if a specific policy is fit for purpose
c. to satisfy itself that the Authority is working well with its partners in tackling a 

major issue 
d. to gather the views of specific stakeholders as part of an on-going scrutiny 

investigation / review
e. to explore possible solutions to an issue

Q) What outcome is the committee seeking from the consideration of this 
item?

a. To comment on the proposed budget and make suggestions to cabinet 
regarding the proposed budget’s ability to deliver the priorities of the council 

b. Identification of any causes for concern and note successes.
c. To receive an overview presentation.
d. To gain an understanding of and to comment on a policy / strategy

Page 35



e. To explore ideas around the setting of budgets while considering the 
pressures facing each service. This also helps provide an overview of the 
policy frame work. 

f. For the scrutiny committee to gain an overview and refresh their knowledge of 
the wellbeing objectives / other plan / other strategy.

g. Improvement in service delivery

Q) What information does the committee need to fulfil this role / achieve 
this outcome? 
What is the Committee trying to do? You might be trying to do some or all of 
the following i.e. establish facts; gather opinions; or explore new ideas / 
solutions.

Q) Who should be invited to the meeting to provide the information?
Depending on the information you need you might want to hear from a range 
of witnesses – e.g. Cabinet members, Senior Officers, Service users, and 
External partners – e.g. Police, Strategic Partners etc

Q) Does the committee need to ask for written representations?
The Committee may wish to pose some questions to the Directorate / Cabinet 
member / External Partner etc prior to the meeting. This may help in instances 
when the committee is looking for something specific to be addressed. This 
will assist whoever is attending ensure that they have the information / answer 
ready for the meeting. 

Q) Which meeting format / venue would be most appropriate for the item 
and for the witnesses that will be invited to attend?
Meetings do not have to be held in a formal committee room environment. 
You may wish to hold occasional meetings out in the community e.g. 
community centres, sports facilities etc. It depends on the subject. Some 
people find the formal setting intimidating. Site visits for example may be more 
appropriate to see first-hand what the committee is investigating / obtaining 
information on e.g. waste sites, regeneration projects etc.

Q) Method of Scrutiny?
Once Members have identified the matters they wish to scrutinise, 
consideration should be given to scoping the subject in more detail including 
the timing and method of scrutiny to be used. Support in this process will be 
given by the Scrutiny and Support Manager and Officer. Members may wish 
to:

a. Consider an item at a single meeting;
b. Consider an item over a series of meetings;
c. Allocate the work to a small working group of Members (Task & Finish group) 

to investigate the issue over a period of 2-3 months (this may involve visits to 
see how services are working in practice);

d. Undertake an Inquiry Day (or days);
e. Undertake joint scrutiny with members of another Scrutiny Committee;
f. Invite expert witnesses to give their views;
g. Seeking the views of service users/carers and/or the general public (public 

calls for evidence).

Performance and Scrutiny Department
MTCBC

Page 36



BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Statement of Wellbeing 
& Focus on the Future:
Wellbeing in our 
Community

4th April 2018 MTCBC Website

Full Council 4th April 2018 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

No

Page 37

http://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/documents/g2694/Public%20reports%20pack%2004th-Apr-2018%2017.30%20Full%20Council.pdf?T=10&LLL=0


 

APPENDIX I

Page 38



Learning and LAESCYP Scrutiny Committee 
Work Programme Descriptors 2018/19

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change)

As per the WAO scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area and 
the outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements.

Date / Timing Overarching Item Linked to MTCBC’s 
Wellbeing Objectives 

(Corporate Objectives)?

Officer & Cabinet Member  (Other)
Scrutiny Focus 

Changes in the ESTYN 
Inspection Reporting 
Framework for schools

BS Best Start to Life  Cllr Lisa Mytton / Sue Walker / 
Joe Colsey

Scrutiny and Challenge: - to receive details of 
Changes in the ESTYN Self Evaluation Reporting (SER) 
Framework.

FIRST DRAFT Scrutiny 
Report - Review of 
Attendance & 
Attainment in Primary 
& Secondary Schools

BS Best Start to Life  Task & Finish Group. Cllr H 
Jones, Cllr C Davies, and Cllr S 
Jago

Scrutiny and Challenge: - The Task and Finish Group 
has prepared its report for consideration by the full 
Committee. Once agreed it will be progressed to 
Cabinet for consideration

Draft Annual Work 
Programme 2018/19

n/a Task & Finish Group. Cllr H 
Jones, Cllr C Davies, and Mrs R 
Lazell

Scrutiny and Challenge: - To consider the draft 
Annual Work programme for 2018/19 as prepared by 
the Task and Finish group of Cllr H Jones, Cllr C. 
Davies, and Mrs R Lazell.

4th June 2018

Heolgerrig Community 
School and Trelewis 
Primary School.

BS Best Start to Life  Head teachers of Heolgerrig 
Community School and 
Trelewis Primary School.

Scrutiny and Challenge:- The Head teachers of these 
schools will be attending the meeting to share good 
practice in their respective schools.

Public Services Board 
and its role in 
Education

BS Best Start to Life  Lesley Lawson RCT 
Partnerships team / Sue 
Walker

Scrutiny and Challenge: - Focus on Wellbeing and 
how this has an impact /have an effect on Schools. 
How this delivers educational outcomes.

16th July 2018 Learning Resource 
Bases (LRB’s) and  
Educated Other Than 
At School (EOTAS) 
Update 

BS Best Start to Life  Cllr Lisa Mytton / Sue Walker Scrutiny and Challenge:- To further discuss and 
consider any changes to the provision and re-
alignment of  Learning Resources Bases in the County 
Borough; and  of EOTAS provision.

P
age 39



Learning and LAESCYP Scrutiny Committee 
Work Programme Descriptors 2018/19

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change)

As per the WAO scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area and 
the outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements.

Overview of the 
Progress of Youth 
Support Services 
since the Estyn 
Monitoring Visit 
2015

BS Best Start to Life Cllr Lisa Mytton/Sue Walker Scrutiny and Challenge:  For information only

Data Report – 
Foundation Phase, 
KS1, KS2 and KS3 (to 
also include a verbal 
update on KS4 results, 
which are only being 
made available on 23rd 
August)
 

BS Best Start to Life  Cllr Lisa Mytton / Sue Walker Scrutiny and Challenge:- to receive a report  on the 
attainment in Foundation Phase, Key Stage 2 and Key 
Stage 3 in 2018. 

School budgets and 
Overview of Building 
Stock (school buildings 
and estates) and 
future plans

BS Best Start to Life  Anthony Lewis / Sue Walker Scrutiny and Challenge:- A report providing details of   
School budgets and an overview of building Stock 
(school buildings and estates) and future plans.

3rd September 
2018

Welsh in Education 
Strategic Plan (WESP) 
– Future Plans

BS Best Start to Life  Cllr Lisa Mytton / Sue Walker Scrutiny & Challenge:- Local authorities are under a 
duty to prepare a plan explaining how it will improve 
the planning of Welsh-medium education, and 
improve standards, together with its targets for 
improvement and progress reports. To debate and 
challenge.

Value for money 
report on education 
services

BS Best Start to Life  Steve Jones/Anthony Lewis Scrutiny & Challenge:- A focus on value for money in 
Education Services. The Chief Finance Officer to 
attend the meeting together with the  Head of 
School Planning & Improvement15th October 

2018

The Additional 
Learning Needs and 

BS Best Start to Life  Cllr Lisa Mytton / Sue Walker  
/Liz Jones (CSC)/ Sarah Bowen

Scrutiny & Challenge:   Discussion on the regional 
and local plan to support and prepare our schools for 

P
age 40



Learning and LAESCYP Scrutiny Committee 
Work Programme Descriptors 2018/19

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change)

As per the WAO scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area and 
the outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements.

Education Tribunal 
(Wales) Act.

the implementation of the Transformation Bill.

ESTYN Self Evaluation 
Reporting (SER) 
Framework 
(Inspection Area 2)

BS Best Start to Life  Cllr Lisa Mytton / Sue Walker Scrutiny and Challenge: - The Scrutiny Committee 
will receive a report from the Chief Education Officer 
on a specific Local Government Education Services 
Inspection Framework element.

Update on Nursery 
Sufficiency and 30 
Hour Childcare

BS Best Start to Life  Cllr Lisa Mytton / Sue Walker Scrutiny and Challenge:-  Local authorities are 
required to undertake Childcare Sufficiency 
Assessments (CSAs) under Section 26 of the 2006 
Childcare Act on the understanding that local 
authorities are best placed to understand and 
respond to local needs. To receive progress report on 
Nursery Sufficiency and 30 Hour Childcare.

NEETS Strategy 2018 -
2021

BS Best Start to Life  Chris Hole /  Cllr Lisa Mytton / 
Sue Walker

Scrutiny and Challenge: - To Inform the Scrutiny 
Committee of the Not in Education, Employment or 
Training Strategy (2018-21) and the progress that has 
been made against this agenda in line with the 
previous strategy.  The NEETS Strategy identifies 
some critical areas to be progressed if the authority 
is to continue its progress. 

26th 
November 
2018

ESTYN Self Evaluation 
Reporting (SER) 
Framework 
(Inspection Area 3)

BS Best Start to Life  Cllr Lisa Mytton / Sue Walker Scrutiny and Challenge:- The Scrutiny Committee will 
receive a report from the Chief Education Officer on 
a specific Local Government Education Services 
Inspection Framework element.

14th January 
2019

Report on the final 
verified KS4 data and 
results.

BS Best Start to Life  Cllr Lisa Mytton / Sue Walker Scrutiny and Challenge:-  to update Scrutiny on the 
performance of schools at key stage 4 (KS4) in public 
external examinations 2017/18

P
age 41



Learning and LAESCYP Scrutiny Committee 
Work Programme Descriptors 2018/19

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change)

As per the WAO scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area and 
the outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements.

Categorisation of 
schools

BS Best Start to Life  Cllr Lisa Mytton / Sue Walker Scrutiny and Challenge:- In January 2015, the Welsh 
Government introduced a new categorisation system 
that considered each school’s standards alongside 
the school’s capacity to improve so as to understand 
the level of support the school needed. To receive a 
report detailing the latest categorisation of schools 
and improvement progress.

Report on Exclusions 
and Attendance

BS Best Start to Life  Cllr Lisa Mytton / Sue Walker Scrutiny and Challenge:-  The Scrutiny Committee 
will receive a report from the Chief Education Officer  
on local and national statistics / figures on 
Attendance and Exclusions.

ESTYN Self Evaluation 
Reporting (SER) 
Framework 
(Inspection Area 1)

BS Best Start to Life  Cllr Lisa Mytton / Sue Walker Scrutiny and Challenge:- The Scrutiny Committee will 
receive a report from the Chief Education Officer on 
a specific Local Government Education Services 
Inspection Framework element.

Central South 
Consortium 

BS Best Start to Life  Cllr Lisa Mytton / Sue Walker Scrutiny and Challenge: - Theme to be agreed. KS4 
results will have been finalised by now.

4th March 
2019 Self-Improving Schools BS Best Start to Life  Cllr Lisa Mytton / Sue 

Walker/Joe Colsey/Schools
Scrutiny and Challenge: - The Scrutiny Committee 
will receive a report from the Chief Education Officer  
and schools on how schools support and challenge 
each other to improve

8th April 2019

Update on Additional 
Learning Needs 
Services (ALN) to 
incorporate PIU’s, 
LRB’s. 

BS Best Start to Life  Cllr Lisa Mytton / Sue Walker Scrutiny and Challenge:- This meeting will have an  
(Additional Learning Needs) ALN focus.

P
age 42



Learning and LAESCYP Scrutiny Committee 
Work Programme Descriptors 2018/19

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change)

As per the WAO scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area and 
the outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements.

Greenfield School 
Outreach service 
update

BS Best Start to Life  Cllr Lisa Mytton / Sue Walker / 
Greenfield School

Scrutiny and Challenge:- During the visit to the 
school in December 2017, the school raised a 
number of points which the scrutiny committee took 
forward on the schools behalf and these were 
responded to by the Chief Education Officer. The 
Chair and Vice Chair have agreed that the school will 
be invited to attend a meeting once the new work 
programme is prepared after the AGM in May 2018. 
Areas of concern were - Continuity of Funding. 
Current number of INSET days per year is insufficient. 
Eligibility / criteria for admission to Greenfield. 
Future accommodation needs of Greenfield to be 
considered as well. To also receive details of the 
Outreach Service.

Additional items to consider for Work

Date to be 
confirmed

To invite / visit Heads and Chairs of Governance at the following schools :-
 Ysgol Gynradd Gymraeg Santes Tudful
 Pen-y-dre High School
 Ynysowen Community Primary School
 Visit Educated Other Than at School (EOTAS) to see what provision is available (before 8th April).
 Visit LRB’s (Learning Resource Basis) as part of the programme of visits.

Date to be 
confirmed
Date to be 
confirmed
Date to be 
confirmed

P
age 43



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Inspection Area 3  -  Leadership and Management
	4 Nursery Sufficiency and 30 Hrs Childcare Offer
	5 Scrutiny Committee Work Programme
	Work Programme


